IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM T. HARVEY AND ELLEN TANNER HARVEY

APPELLEES

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-00560

JAY F. SWINDLE, SR. AND COMMUNITY BANK, ELLISVILLE, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT OF COVINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-64C

THE HONORABLE ROBERT G. EVANS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CAVES & CAVES, PLLC TERRY L. CAVES, JERRY D. SHARP, 1 Attorneys at Law P. O. Drawer 167 Laurel, MS 39441-0167 Phone: (601) 428-0402

Facsimile: (601) 428-0452

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM T. HARVEY AND ELLEN TANNER HARVEY

APPELLEE

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-00560

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues presented on appeal are the following:

- A. The trial court erred in finding that the arbitration agreement is not a binding contract.
- **B.** The trial court committed reversible error by finding that arbitration is not the appropriate forum to determine the issue of arbitrability.
- C. The trial court committed reversible error in finding that the arbitration agreement was procedurally and substantively unconscionable.
- **D.** The trial court committed reversible error in finding that the Harvey's were under economic duress when they signed the loan documents.
- **E.** The trial court committed reversible error in finding that the claims alleged in the Complaint are outside the scope of the arbitration agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

On April 5, 2007, William T. Harvey and Ellen Tanner Harvey filed their Complaint against Jay F. Swindle, Sr. and Community Bank, Ellisville, Mississippi, in the Circuit Court of Covington County, Mississippi. (CP 4)¹ The Harvey's causes of action include negligence, trespass, intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligent infliction of emotional distress, breach of deed of trust, fraud, and unjust enrichment. (CP 4-8)

On June 4, 2007, Jay F. Swindle, Sr. and Community Bank filed their Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay of Proceedings. (CP 37) The hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration was held before the Honorable Robert Evans on December 7, 2007. (CP 84) Judge Evans entered his order on March 24, 2008 denying the Bank's and Swindle's Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay of Proceedings. (CP 97-98)

The Bank and Swindle timely filed their Notice of Appeal on March 31, 2008 from the trial court's denial of their Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings. (CP 99)

B. Statement of Facts

Ellen and Tony Harvey ("the Harveys") owned a house with three (3) acres, together with 36.52 acres containing poultry houses. The total acreage is 39.52 acres.

The Harveys initially borrowed Three Hundred Fifty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$355,000.00) from Community Bank in 2001 to finance their poultry operations. (T. 3) Tyson was the producer for the Harveys. (T. 3) In 2003 Tyson required the Harveys to retrofit and upgrade their poultry houses. (T. 3, 4) The house and three (3) acres and the 36.52 acres are adjoining properties. In June, 2003, the Harveys went to Community Bank to borrow additional money to

¹ Reference to (T.__) are references to pages within the transcribed testimony prepared by the court reporter; references to (R.E._) are references within the record excerpts; references to (Ex._) are references to exhibits within the records; references to (CP) are references to the clerk's papers.

retro-fit their houses. The Harveys met with Dennis Upchurch and Carolyn Bryant with Community Bank and filled out a loan application. (T. 4) The Harveys intended to borrow \$120,000.00 to be guaranteed by the U.S. Small Business Administration. (T. 5) The Bank agreed to make the additional loan of \$120,000.00 and the Harveys came to the Bank on July 18, 2003 to sign the loan documents. Dennis Upchurch was Senior Vice-President and Carolyn Bryant was the Loan Assistant for Community Bank. Both Upchurch and Bryant met with the Harveys on July 18, 2003 to explain the loan documents. (Ex. 9, 10) However, the house and 3 acres was inadvertently omitted from the Deed of Trust. This is the crux of this entire lawsuit.

The Harveys represented to Upchurch and Bryant that they owned a total of 39.52 acres, which included their home and two (2) poultry houses. (Ex. 9, p. 2) The Harveys signed a loan application and all loan documents clearly evidencing their intent to pledge their home and poultry houses as security for the loan. (Ex. 9) The Harveys agreed to maintain hazard insurance on their home and poultry houses. (Ex. 9) At the time of the closing, all of the loan documents were explained to the Harveys. They understood they were borrowing \$120,000.00, and were pledging their home and poultry houses for a total of 39.52 acres as security to the Bank. Mr. Upchurch and Mrs. Bryant specifically explained the arbitration disclosure statement and the arbitration agreement. (Ex. 9, Ex. 3) The Harveys had no objections to signing any of the documents, including the arbitration disclosure, and arbitration agreement. (Ex. 10)

The Harveys both admitted that they represented to the Bank they intended to pledge their house with the poultry farm as security for the Bank's loan. (T. 11, 42) The Harveys claimed they did not read the loan documents. However, Ellen and Tony both admitted that they could have read the documents if they wanted to, (T. 12, 39) but because they were in a hurry to get back to their poultry farm, they chose not to read the documents. (T. 40) They both also

admitted taking copies of all the loan documents with them, including the arbitration disclosure and arbitration agreement, but they still chose to not read them. (T. 40)

The Harveys admitted the Bank did not misrepresent anything to them with regard to their loan. (T. 13, 39) They both have a 12th grade education and can read and write. (T. 43) They admitted they freely and voluntarily signed all the loan documents including the arbitration disclosure and the arbitration agreement. (T. 13, 14, 42) Tony Harvey admitted that his only complaint is that he did not read the loan documents. (T. 14)

After the loan was closed on July 18, 2003, the Harveys left the Bank and continued to operate their poultry farm. They never wrote the Bank a letter objecting to the arbitration disclosure or arbitration agreement. The Harveys never called the Bank complaining about the arbitration agreements or the loan documents. They never hired a lawyer prior to foreclosure to contact the Bank complaining about the loan documents. (T. 13, 41) On August 28, 2003, the Harveys borrowed an additional Eighteen Thousand, Forty Dollars (\$18,040.00) from Community Bank to purchase a tractor. (Ex. 7) They also signed an arbitration disclosure and arbitration agreement on August 28, 2003 in connection with the tractor loan. (Ex. 7, T. 22, 23) The Harveys admitted they had an opportunity to read the August 28, 2003 documents. (T. 23)

The Harveys continued to make payments, but did not maintain hazard insurance on the house as promised. (T. 15, 16) They admitted they were notified that their insurance had expired and the Bank added insurance to their loan. (T. 16) They never objected to the Bank force-placing insurance to their loan. (T. 15, 16) They continued to make payments until they filed for bankruptcy in September, 2005. (T. 19) They were represented by Edwin Tullos, attorney at law, during their bankruptcy proceedings. (T. 19, Ex. 6)

On November 28, 2005, the Harveys signed an agreed order abandoning their home and poultry farm, as reflected by the Agreed Relinquishment of Security. (Ex. 6, T. 19-21) The

Harveys admitted they represented to the Bank, their attorney, the bankruptcy trustee, and bankruptcy judge that the Bank had a security interest in their home and poultry farm and they were releasing and abandoning this security to the Bank. (T. 19-21, Ex. 6) After they signed the abandonment order, they did not go back to the house. (T. 22, 42-43) Subsequent to the execution and filing of the bankruptcy order, Community Bank began foreclosure proceedings on the house and poultry farm. The Bank foreclosed their deed of trust and received a substitute trustee's deed on April 7, 2006. (Ex. 8, p. 111)

After the Bank received its substitution of trustee's deed, the Bank received a letter from Dan McIntosh on May 2, 2006 informing the Bank for the first time that the Bank did not have a lien on the house and three acres. (T. 25)

After receiving the letter from the Harvey's attorney on May 2, 2006, the Bank reviewed its deed of trust and realized for the first time that the house and three acres were not listed on the description of the deed of trust. Although the Harveys admitted they intended to pledge the house and three acres, together with the poultry houses as security, they now claim the Bank was not supposed to have a lien on the house. (T. 11) They also represented to the United States of America, Small Business Administration, that the Bank had a lien on their house and poultry farm. (T. 17) All of the loan documents clearly reflect that they pledged their house together with the poultry farm as security for the loan. (Ex. 8, p. 2) The following documents reflect that the Harveys intended to pledge their house as security for the loan:

- 1. Promissory note dated July 18, 2003 (Ex. 2, Bates 214);
- 2. Farm Bureau Insurance Company notices (Ex. 8, Bates 156);
- 3. Letters to the Harveys from Community Bank informing them that their insurance had expired on the house, and that the Bank was adding insurance to the loan (Ex. 8, Bates 203, 204);

- 4. Agreement to provide insurance (Ex. 8, Bates, 237);
- 5. Financial Statement (Ex. 1);
- 6. Statement of Personal History (U.S. SBA, Ex. 4); and
- 7. Commercial Security Agreement (Ex. 5).

The first time the Harveys discovered that the description for the house and three acres was omitted from the deed of trust was after the Bank foreclosed on the property on April 7, 2006. (T. 24, 43)

The Harveys filed suit April 5, 2007 claiming they never intended to pledge their house and three acres as security and requesting damages against Community Bank. (CP 4)

C. Summary of the Argument

The trial court erred in denying Community Bank's Motion to Compel Arbitration. The Harveys signed a valid and binding arbitration agreement pertaining to their transactions and disputes with Community Bank and Jay Swindle.

The court erred in not referring the issue of arbitrability to the arbitrator for decision. The arbitration agreement in this case mandates that any controversy concerning whether an issue is arbitrable shall be determined by the arbitrator including whether the dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement. (Ex. 3) All of the claims of the Harveys in this case arise from the loan transaction and fall within the scope of the arbitration agreement.

The Harveys are bound by the loan documents even if they claim they did not read them.

They freely and voluntarily entered into the loan transaction and the arbitration agreement is not substantively or procedurally unconscionable.

The Harveys have not pled economic duress and they have failed to prove the necessary elements of economic duress including specific conduct by the Bank that dispossessed them of

all volition in the execution of the loan documents. The trial court should have referred all of the issues in this case to arbitration.

D. Legal Argument

A. The trial court erred in finding that the arbitration agreement is not a binding contract.

The grant or denial of a Motion to Compel Arbitration is reviewed *de novo*. East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002). A contracting party is under a legal obligation to read a contract before signing. Terminix v. Rice, 904 So.2d 1051, 1056 (Miss. 2004). To permit a party, when sued on a written contract, to admit that he signed it but to deny that it expresses the agreement he made or to allow him to admit that he signed it, but did not read it or know its stipulations, would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts. Busching v. Griffin, 542 So.2d 860, 865 (Miss. 1990); see also Long v. Allianz Life Insurance Company of North America, 208 WL 2910579 (N.D. Miss. 2008) ("A person cannot avoid a written contract which he has entered into on the ground that he did not read it or have it read to him.") J.R. Watkins Company v. Runnells, 252 Miss. 87, 172 So.2d 567, 571 (Miss. 1965).

The Federal Arbitration Act dictates that Federal Arbitration Agreements "shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract". 9 U.S.C. § 2 (1947); Rogers-Dabbs Chevrolet-Hummer, Inc. v. Blakeney, 950 So.2d 170 (Miss. 2007). The Act established a strong federal policy favoring arbitration. East Ford, 826 So.2d at 713.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently recognized the existence of "a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements," and has stated that, "We will respect the right of an individual or an entity to agree in advance of a dispute to arbitration...." *Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc.*, 826 So.2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002). This Court has further stated: Articles of Agreement to Arbitrate, and awards thereon are to be liberally construed so as to encourage the

settlement of a dispute, and the presumption will be indulged in favor of the validity of arbitration proceedings. *Terminix v. Rice*, 904 So.2d 1051, 1055 (Miss. 2004). In addition to establishing a strong presumption in favor of arbitration, the Act also limits the role of the court to determine whether an issue is arbitrable. *Id.* at 1054. The Court's sole function is to determine whether the claim is referable to arbitration. *Id.* at 1055. Once that determination is made, the court may not delve further into the dispute. *Id.* The courts have no business weighing the merits of a particular claim or determining whether there is particular language in the written instrument which will support the claim. *Id.*

In determining if arbitration agreements are enforceable and apply, the court must consider two (2) prongs. *East Ford*, 826 So.2d at 713. The first prong the court must examine is whether the parties agree to arbitrate the dispute. *Id.* Secondly, the court must determine whether legal constraints external to the parties' agreement bar arbitration of the claims. *Id.* The first prong is two-fold in that the court considers whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and then whether the parties dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement. *Id.*

The Harveys complained that they should not be subjected to the arbitration agreement because they did not read the documents. However they admitted they signed the arbitration disclosure and arbitration agreement. (T. 12, 14, Ex. 3, T. 39) They admitted the Bank did not misrepresent anything to them with regard to the arbitration documents and the other loan documents. (T. 13, 39) They do not dispute the validity of the arbitration agreement they signed with the bank. Their only complaint is that they did not read the documents. (T. 14) However, they both admitted they had an opportunity to read the documents and could have read the documents if they wanted to. (T. 12, 39, 40) The Harveys admitted they freely and voluntarily signed the arbitration disclosure and arbitration agreement. (T. 13, 14, 42) The law presumes that the Harveys read the arbitration agreement and loan documents they signed. Although the

Bank contends that the Harveys read and approved the arbitration agreement and arbitration disclosure statement, in Mississippi a person is charged with knowing the contents of any documents that he or she executes. *Terminix*, 904 So.2d at 1056. Therefore, not only did the Harveys have the loan documents, including the arbitration agreement, explained to them, the Harveys were on notice of the arbitration clause, whether they read it or not. The arbitration disclosures and the arbitration agreement are clear and unambiguous. Therefore, the arbitration agreement is valid and binding.

B. The trial court committed reversible error by finding that arbitration is not the appropriate forum to determine the issue of arbitrability.

Community Bank requested that the trial court refer this entire case to arbitration, and allow the arbitrator to determine if the Harveys' claims are arbitrable.

The trial court should have first determined the proper interpreter of the arbitration agreement. In *Greater Canton-Ford Mercury*, this court addressed for the first time whether a court or an arbitrator should interpret the arbitration agreement. *Greater Canton-Ford Mercury* v. *Ables*, 948 So.2d 417 (Miss. 2007).

Whether a party is bound by an arbitration agreement is generally considered an issue for the courts, not the arbitrator, unless the parties clearly and unmistakably provide otherwise. AT&T Technologies, v. Communications Workers of America, 475 U.S. 643, 649 (1986). (emphasis added). In other words, when the parties have explicitly agreed that the question of arbitrability is to be decided by an arbitrator rather than the court, that agreement must be interpreted by an arbitrator. Greater Canton-Ford Mercury, Inc. v. Ables, 948 So2d 417, 422 (Miss. 2007).

The United States Supreme Court has mandated that general contract principles apply. *Id.*The general practice of allowing courts to determine the issue of arbitrability is superceded by the contractual terms of an arbitration provision which provides that arbitrability will be decided by an arbitrator. *Id.* Therefore arbitration of the issue of arbitrability is a mandatory result if

those are the terms to which the parties have validly agreed. The parties may agree on the scope of arbitration in any way they desire. *B.C. Rogers Poultry, Inc. v. Wedgworth*, 911 So.2d 483, 491 (Miss. 2005). Contracts are obligations, and the court must give them effect as written. *B. C. Rogers*, 911 So.2d at 491.

The question becomes whether the agreement clearly and unmistakably states that an interpretation of the agreement will be arbitrated. The pertinent part of the arbitration provision reads:

Arbitration Agreement Paragraph 4

A. Any claim shall, at the request of the customer, bank, or any covered person, whether made before or after institution of legal proceedings, be determined by binding arbitration. The transaction involves interstate commerce and the arbitration is subject to and shall be conducted in accordance with the United States Arbitration Act 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq., as amended, notwithstanding any choice of law provision in this agreement or any other documents executed in connection with the transaction, and under the rules of N.A.F. The arbitrator shall have authority to award damages and grant such other relief he deems appropriate. The arbitrator shall give effect to applicable law, including statute of limitations in determining the claim. Any controversy concerning whether an issue is arbitrable shall be determined by the arbitrator....

This clear and unmistakable language requires this court to find that the appropriate forum for interpretation is arbitration. The trial court erred in proceeding to determine whether the arbitration agreement encompassed the dispute. The court should not have taken any testimony or considered the dispute. (T. 1-2) The trial court specifically found that arbitration was not the appropriate forum to determine if the issues in this case are arbitrable. The trial court distinguished *Greater Canton* by stating that the parties in this case did not agree to the validity of the arbitration agreement. The court confuses the issue of whether there was an agreement to arbitrate with the issue of whether there are legal constraints external to the parties' agreement, foreclosing arbitration of the claim, even if the claim was found to be within the arbitration provision in question.

The trial court should have never delved into the claims of the Harveys that the agreement was unconscionable. The trial court stated, "In this case, the parties have not so agreed; indeed, Plaintiffs have challenged both procedural and substantive conscionability of the arbitration clause and charged that it constituted a contract of adhesion." (CP 97, 98)

The decision by this Court in *Greater Canton-Ford* is directly on point, and the issue of whether the claims by the Harveys are subject to the arbitration agreement should be properly decided by an arbitrator rather than a court. Mr. Upchurch and Mrs. Bryant explained the arbitration disclosure and arbitration agreement to the Harveys. (Ex. 9, 10) The Harveys cannot say they did not agree to the arbitration agreement because they testified under oath they never read any of the loan documents. In addition, the trial court should never have decided the issue of whether the Harveys claims are outside the scope of the arbitration agreement. This issue should have been referred to arbitration.

Therefore, the Bank requests that this court reverse the trial court's order and refer the question of arbitrability and all issues to arbitration in accordance with the parties' arbitration agreement.

C. The trial court committed reversible error in finding that the arbitration agreement was procedurally and substantively unconscionable

Although the Bank submits that this court should refer all issues to arbitration, the Bank will address the trial court's finding that the arbitration agreement was procedurally and substantively unconscionable.

The trial court found that the arbitration agreement contained a clause that the parties' agreed for an arbitrator to determine if the dispute between the parties is arbitrable. (CP 97) However, the trial court found that the arbitration agreement placed the Harveys in a "heads-I-win-tails-you-lose" situation <u>calculated</u> to circumvent judicial review or resolution of all disputes. (CP 98)

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