**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**JAY F. SWINDEL, SR., AND  
COMMUNITY BANK, ELLISVILLE, MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLANTS**

**VS.**

**NO. 2008-CA-00560**

**WILLIAM T. HARVEY, AND  
ELLEN TANNER HARVEY**

**APPELLEES**

---

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES  
WILLIAM T. HARVEY AND ELLEN TANNER HARVEY**

---

**ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED**

**DAVID SHOEMAKE, [REDACTED]  
SHOEMAKE & BLACKLEDGE, PLLC  
Post Office Box 1678  
Collins, Mississippi 39428  
Telephone No. 601-765-8284  
Facsimile No. 601-765-8282**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAY F. SWINDEL, SR., AND  
COMMUNITY BANK, ELLISVILLE, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-00560

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court of Covington County properly applied the principles of Rogers-Dabbs Chevrolet-Hummer v. Blakeney, 957 So.2d 170 (Miss. 2007) in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration. "Arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." Id. at ¶ 15. The Bank goes into great detail in addressing the fact that the Harveys failed to read the documents in which they signed. However, it is apparent that the Bank has failed to carefully read the documents as well. Of the two Deeds of Trust in which the Harveys executed, neither contains any language regarding the description of the three (3) acres upon which the house is situated. Deeds of Trust also do not contain any reference to arbitration clauses related to said documents or the three(3) acres. (Exhibits 1 and 2)

The Harveys' home and three(3) acres were not made a part of the Deeds of Trust, by the

Bank, and the foreclosure, ultimate wrongful possession and wrongful eviction of the Harveys are all claims relating to the home and three (3) acres which fall outside any arbitration clause in any other loan documents. This Court has correctly recognized and upheld the principal that, “[a]mbiguities in a contract are to be construed against the party who drafted the contract.” Union Planters Bank, National Association v. Rogers, 912 So.2d 116, 119 (Miss. 2005). Because the Bank failed to include the property in which it wanted to take a security interest, it cannot expect the borrower to acquiesce to the wrongful seizure of property which is not included the Deeds of Trust. Furthermore, in construing ambiguities within the documents against the Bank (its maker), it is not only apparent that there is no arbitration clause in the Deeds of Trust, but the Addendum thereto in fact it states, “any clause in this document requiring arbitration is not enforceable when SBA is the holder of the Note secured by this instrument.” (Exhibit 2, page10)

The Bank argues that the Circuit Court erred in finding that arbitration was not the appropriate forum to determine if the issues in this case are arbitrable. The Bank at the hearing before the Circuit Court and now relies exclusively on Grater Canton Ford v. Ables, 948 So.2d 417 (Miss. 2007) asserting that arbitration is the proper forum to determine the validity of and/or if the issues in the case are arbitratable. In East Ford, Inc., v. Taylor, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002), this Court held,

In determining the validity of a motion to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, courts generally conduct a two-pronged inquiry. The first prong has two considerations: **(1) whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and (2) whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement.** Under the second prong, the United States Supreme Court has stated the question as “whether legal constraints external to the parties' agreement foreclosed arbitration of those claims.” Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 626, 105 S.Ct. 3346, 87 L.Ed.2d 444 (1985) (citations omitted). Under the second prong, applicable contract defenses available under state contract law such as fraud, duress, and unconscionability may be asserted to invalidate the arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act. Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681, 686, 116 S.Ct. 1652, 134 L.Ed.2d 902 (1996).

The principal set forth in East Ford, Inc., is, “[i]n determining the validity of a motion to compel

arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, *courts* generally conduct a two-pronged inquiry.” Further, in AT&T Technologies, v. Communications Workers of America, 475 U.S. 643, 649 (1986), the Supreme Court stated that whether a party is bound by an arbitration agreement is generally considered an issue for the courts not the arbitrator, unless the parties *clearly and unmistakably* provide otherwise. In the present case, there was no arbitration agreement contained within either Deed of Trust, and the matter pending before the court is outside the scope of any arbitration agreement, as the Bank failed to properly secure the three (3) acres of which it later took possession under the pretext of a foreclosure.

It is and/or will be an extremely dangerous prospect if arbitrators are left with the sole discretion of deciding if an issue should be arbitrated without some form of judicial review. Without some form of judicial review, it is possible, if not probable that an arbitrator would not want to render a decision which would effectively reduce his ultimate fee in the matter pending before him. The “safety net” of judicial review of arbitration clauses in no way prejudices any party. However, lack of and/or refusal to allow *independent judicial review* at the trial level and if necessary appellate review exposes parties to potentially irrevocable harm.

In Thompson-CSF, S.A. v. American Arbitration Association, 64 F.3d 773, 776 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1995), the Second Circuit Court of Appeals held that,

Arbitration is contractual by nature and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute to which he or she has not agreed so to submit. Thus while there is a strong and liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements, such agreements must not be so broadly construed as to encompass claims and parties that were not intended by the original contract.

The Bank in its brief asks several rectorial questions in support of its argument that there is a binding arbitration agreement. “Why did the Harveys list the Bank as loss-payee on homeowners insurance policy?”; “Why did they abandon their homestead at bankruptcy?”; “Why didn’t they object when the Bank force-placed insurance on their home...?”; “Why didn’t they enjoin the

foreclosure sale if the bank did not have a lien on their home?”. (Appellants’ Brief P. 19) These arguments do not support the contention of a valid arbitration agreement as it relates to the claims regarding the three(3) acres and home of the Harveys. These arguments are attempts by the Bank to draw attention away from the fact that it did not have a valid security interest on the Deeds of Trust entitling it to foreclosure and possession of the home and three(3) acres. These arguments also do not support a finding that the dispute is covered by a valid arbitration agreement or that the two pronged test is met to find an arbitration agreement exists. By the same token, the Harveys could ask similar questions such as, “Why did the Bank force place insurance on the property which was not part of the Deed of Trust?”, or “Why did the Bank go to such lengths to convince the Harveys that they had conveyed the three (3) acres via the Deed of Trust?” These questions by the Bank may at some point be defenses which the Appellees may wish to assert, however, those arguments, like so many put forth by the Appellants do not address the validity of the arbitration clause and/or whether the dispute falls within said clause.

The Circuit Court properly applied the principals in Rogers-Dabbs to the issues in the Motion to Compel Arbitration in denying said motion. Finally, the Circuit Court properly found that the arbitration clause was unconscionable. This Court has defined an unconscionable contract as, “...one such as no man in his senses and not under delusion would make on the one hand, and as no honest and fair man would accept on the other....” East Ford Inc., at 715 (¶17), (citations omitted). While it may not be said that no one in his right mind would ever agree to arbitrate, all be it a subjective argument, certainly the waiving of one’s right of access to the courts must be obtained by fairness and equal opportunity. While the trial court properly found that the dispute was outside the scope of the arbitration clause, it went on to properly find unconscionable elements in the circumstances of the loan which would void any arbitration clause.

“Unconscionability has been defined as absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of

the parties, together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party.” East Ford, Inc., at 715 (¶17), *citing* Entergy Miss., Inc. v. Burdette Gin Co., 726 So.2d 1202 (Miss. 1998). As such the order of the trial court should be affirmed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The grant or denial of a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed de novo.” East Ford, Inc., at 713 ¶9, *citing* Webb v. Investacorp, Inc., 89 F.3d 252, 256 (5th Cir.1996).

In determining the validity of a motion to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, courts generally conduct a two-pronged inquiry. The first prong has two considerations: (1) whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and (2) whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement. Under the second prong, the United States Supreme Court has stated the question as “whether legal constraints external to the parties' agreement foreclosed arbitration of those claims.” *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 626, 105 S.Ct. 3346, 87 L.Ed.2d 444 (1985) (citations omitted). Under the second prong, applicable contract defenses available under state contract law such as fraud, duress, and unconscionability may be asserted to invalidate the arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act. *Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 686, 116 S.Ct. 1652, 134 L.Ed.2d 902 (1996).

Id.

### ARGUMENT

**ISSUE 1: Did the Circuit Court of Covington County err in finding that the acts alleged in the Complaint fell outside the arbitration agreement?**

The Circuit Court properly found that the issues in this action fell outside the arbitration agreement which the Bank seeks to have enforced. At the heart of this litigation is the fact that the Bank foreclosed on a Deed of Trust, and took possession of a house and three (3) acres of land which were not included in any Deed of Trust. The Bank knew, or should have known that the property referred to as the three (3) acres were not transferred by the Harveys to the Trustee in the Deed of Trust, to hold in trust for the benefit of Community Bank. Without this conveyance of the Deed of Trust of the three (3) acres, the Bank had no interest in the house and three (3) acres of land.

The Bank negligently, and/or intentionally and/or wrongfully assumed that said property was included in the foreclosure sale with the 36.52 acres to which it did have a valid security interest via the Deeds of Trust. The Bank has throughout this litigation intentionally denied the truth regarding the three (3) acres or it has been under the mistaken belief that it perfected its security interest in the three(3) acres upon which the house is located. It was so convinced of this fact that it through, acts, omissions, fraudulent misrepresentation, duress, and/or coercion ultimately convinced the Harveys that they had in fact conveyed "in trust" the three (3) acres as security in the Deeds of Trust. The Bank was in a better position to understand and/or read the legal "meets and bounds" description in the Deeds of Trust and understand the legal terms of the Deeds of Trust than were the Harveys.

Any arbitration agreements upon which the Bank relies only covers the property which was described in the Deeds of Trust prepared by the Bank. "Arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." Rogers-Dabbs, at ¶ 15. The Bank did not "foreclose" on the promissory notes, commercial security agreements or other documents which the Bank references as important documents which may have contained arbitration clauses. Rather, the Bank, via a substituted trustee, foreclosed on a Deed of Trust (which had no arbitration clause) and wrongfully took possession of the home without any authority granted in the Deeds of Trust. (Substituted Trustee's Deed is Exhibit B to the Complaint)

The other documents relied upon by the Bank, including the arbitration clause, did not give the Bank the right to have a Substituted Trustee publish its notice of sale in the newspaper, conduct an auction of the property, and to ultimately sale the three (3) acres and home situated thereon to the Bank. The only documents which provided the Bank with the authority of possession were in fact the Deeds of Trust, which do not describe the house and three (3) acres, nor make any reference to requiring disputes relating to the Deeds of Trust to be bound by arbitration.

Interestingly, the Deed of Trust Addendum on the 2003 Deed of Trust states, "**any clause**

in this document requiring arbitration is not enforceable when SBA is the holder of the Note secured by this instrument.” (Exhibit 2 p.10) It was the Bank who sought SBA involvement in this loan. (T.34) This one provision which the Bank adopted by first seeking SBA approval and/or security on the loan, and then placing this statement as a part of the Deed of Trust in of itself is sufficient to void any alleged arbitration agreement as to this dispute.

Although the Bank continually asserts that the Harveys “intended” to pledge the home, the actual Deed of Trust on page 6 of 6 clearly indicates that the property “will be used principally for *agricultural or farming* purposes and that Grantor is ...allowed to own agricultural land as provided by law.” (Exhibit 2 p.9) As such, a reasonable person would conclude that the purpose was for agricultural not residential purposes. Under “Personal Property” on that same page it indicates that it includes all farm products, inventory, equipment, etc., but then specifically excludes the property described as “household goods”. The house and three (3) acres in question were therefore obviously not part of this Deed of Trust, and therefore outside the scope of the arbitration agreement that the Bank seeks to enforce.

The Bank did not “foreclose” on the promissory notes, insurance company notes, etc. as to the Harveys from the Bank concerning said insurance, financial statements, or commercial security agreements which the Bank references as important documents in its brief filed before the hearing before the Circuit Court. Rather, the Bank, via a substituted trustee, foreclosed on the 36.52 acres and while they were at it, simply went ahead and took possession of the house and three (3) without any authority whatsoever as said property was not a part of the Deeds of Trust, Notice of Sale, or the Substituted Trustee’s Deed. (Exhibits 1&2; The Notice of Sale is Exhibit A to the Complaint) Throughout the transcript of the hearing and in the Brief of the Appellants, the Bank refers to the house and three(3) acres that the Harveys “intended to convey” in the Deeds of Trust. With this regard, the court must look to the four corners of the Deed of Trust to determine what

property was actually secured by the Deeds of Trust. The Bank, was in a better position to determine what property would be secured by the Deeds of Trust, but failed to properly secure all property to which it wanted a security interest. The Bank also argues throughout its brief, as it did before the Circuit Court, matters outside the Deeds of Trust and/or any applicable arbitration agreement as evidence why the Court should order arbitration. The Bank argues that the bankruptcy proceedings and/or other alleged actions by the Harveys support its Motion to Compel Arbitration. These arguments *may* be relevant as defenses and/or the Bank's attempt at decreasing its liability but they have no significance nor should those arguments have any bearing on the arbitration clause which the Bank now seeks to enforce.

The Circuit Court properly applied the principals restated in Rogers-Dabbs, which upheld the long standing two prong test with regards to arbitration agreements. This Court has stated time and time again that,

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